Chapter 9 Nanobiotechnology and Its Applications in Plant System Biology



Abdul Rehman, Zahid Manzoor, Abdul Qayyum, Zhen Peng, Hongge Li, Guangyong Qin, Yinhua Jia, Zhaoe Pan, Shoupu He, and Xiongming Du

Contents

9.1	Background				
9.2	Plant Stress Tolerance by Nanoparticles.				
	9.2.1 Nano vs Bulk.	215			
	9.2.2 Dispersion of Nanomaterials	220			
9.3	Stress Detection and Early Exposure by Nanoparticles				
	9.3.1 Nanoparticle Sensors.	220			
	9.3.2 Plants Sensors for Initial Stress Recognition.	221			
9.4	Agrochemicals Based on Nanoparticles.				
	9.4.1 Nanofertilizers and Nanopesticides.	222			
	9.4.2 Targeting the Chloroplast to Synchronize Plant Performance	223			
9.5	Transgenic Events Assisted by Nanoparticles	225			
	9.5.1 Nanomaterials as Delivery Platform.	225			
9.6	Nano-Enabled-CRISPR-Cas Complex.	226			
9.7	Seed Nanopriming				
9.8	Light Harvesting by Nanoparticles. 22				

A. Rehman $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. He $\cdot X$. Du (\boxtimes)

Zhengzhou Research Base, State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China

State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Institute of Cotton Research Chinese Academy of Agricultural Science, Anyang, Henan, China

Z. Manzoor

Key Horticultural Plant Biology Lab, Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China

A. Qayyum

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Bahauddin Zakariya University, Multan, Pakistan

Z. Peng · H. Li · Y. Jia · Z. Pan

State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Institute of Cotton Research Chinese Academy of Agricultural Science, Anyang, Henan, China

G. Qin

Zhengzhou Research Base, State Key Laboratory of Cotton Biology, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 C. S. Prakash et al. (eds.), *Principles and Practices of OMICS and Genome Editing for Crop Improvement*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96925-7_9 213

9.9	Capturing More Electrons.	229
9.10	Future Perspectives	229
Refe	rences	230

9.1 Background

Materials with a dimension less than 100 nm and a high surface-to-volume ratio are called nanomaterials due to their small size. They have unique physicochemical properties like increased reactivity and a small surface area with a typical surface structure. They are highly reactive because of their small size, accumulation of nanoparticles, stability, surface structure, shape, and chemical composition (Wang et al. 2016). Nanomaterials, in addition to their unique physicochemical features, are highly receptive to surface conjugation, allowing them to be produced as adaptable platforms with a wide range of applications in plant science (Machado et al. 2020; Hu et al. 2020). Nanotechnology has showed great promise in agriculture: it can increase plant stress tolerance by scavenging reactive oxygen species (ROS) with nanozymes (nanomaterials that imitate antioxidant enzyme functions) (Gao et al. 2007; Pirmohamed et al. 2010). Cerium oxide enhances tolerance against abiotic stresses (heat, cold, salinity, and drought) in plants (Liu et al. 2021b; Wu et al. 2018; Djanaguiraman et al. 2018; Wu et al. 2017b). Nanobiotechnology also enables the targeted and controlled release of agrochemicals (Zhang et al. 2020b; Santana et al. 2020); stress detection at early stages (Giraldo et al. 2019; Kwak et al. 2017) by using carbon nanotubes for sensing Ca^{2+} , H_2O_2 , and NO (Wu et al. 2020); successful delivery of ribonucleic acid (RNA) or deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) in nonmodel plant species (Demirer et al. 2019; Kwak et al. 2019); as well as stress tolerance by seed priming (nanopriming) with nanoparticles (Rizwan et al. 2019; Mahakham et al. 2017).

By 2050, the world's population is expected to reach 9 billion, and feeding such a large number is a great challenge. Scientists have estimated that Agriculture production must grow by 60% from 2005–2007 levels to feed a population of nearly 9 billion people by 2050 (Van Ittersum et al. 2016). Many efforts have been made through plant breeding, cultivation practices, and farm management to reduce the gap between demand and supply of food, but it is still an emerging problem that can only be solved by modern techniques, like nano-enabled agriculture, to mitigate food shortage. An emerging field called nano-enabled agriculture has the potential to increase plant tolerance to biotic and abiotic challenges, as well as plant breeding and agriculture. By 2050, it is expected that plant nanobiotechnology will address food shortage and have great importance in sustainable agriculture.

Previously, plant biotechnology was not much focused on by researchers; rather, they emphasized nanosensors, nanotoxicity, and nanoparticles in agricultural production (Zhao et al. 2020; Xin et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2020a; Acharya et al. 2019). Nanomaterials' biosafety concern might be substantially handled with adequate management and design (Gilbertson et al. 2020; Adisa et al. 2019). The use of nanomaterials in sustainable agriculture is being focused on in the current chapter. The



Fig. 9.1 Role of nanobiotechnology in various aspects of agriculture

major objective of this chapter is to encourage researchers specializing in plant biotechnology to further work on nano-enabled agriculture. Figure 9.1 illustrates the dynamic role of nanobiotechnology in various aspects of agriculture to improve the current agricultural production system.

9.2 Plant Stress Tolerance by Nanoparticles

9.2.1 Nano vs Bulk

Many researchers have recently worked on nano- and bulk materials in plants for agricultural production. By comparing the technique of using nanofertilizers and nanopesticides with conventional approaches, it was proved that nanomaterials are 20-30% more efficient (Dietz and Herth 2011). Therefore, we emphasize the higher efficacy of using nanomaterials as compared to conventional methods. Nanomaterials offer features like catalytic ROS (reactive oxygen species) scavenging ability and self-fluorescence that bulk or commercial equivalents lack due to changes in physical and chemical properties at the nanoscale level. It was reported that CeO₂ nanoparticles are ROS scavengers, and they have a wide application in plant sciences, industries, and medical research (Kah et al. 2018). CeO₂ nanoparticles

feature a significant number of surface oxygen vacancies that alternate between two oxidation states Ce³⁺ and Ce⁴⁺ to offer substantial ROS scavenging capacity, in contrast to bulk cerium oxide (Walkey et al. 2015). ROS is catalyzed; the dangling bonds in Ca³⁺ efficiently scavenge ROS, while lattice strain increases surface oxygen vacancies by redox reactions (Boghossian et al. 2013). Another newly developed nanoparticle is Mn_3O_4 , which has a greater in vivo ROS scavenging ability because it exists in two oxidation states, Mn^{2+} and Mn^{3+} , at a ratio of 1:2 (Yao et al. 2018). Salinity stress tolerance in crop plants (*Brassica napus*) was observed after the application of cerium oxide. The plants treated with cerium oxide had 48% more fresh biomass than the control plants (Rossi et al. 2016).

In two other studies, polyacrylic acid coated cerium oxide nanoparticles improved salt tolerance in Arabidopsis (50 mg L¹, 10.0 nm, -17.0 mV, foliar spray) and cotton (100 mg L¹, 8.0 nm, -15.3 mV, foliar spray), with plants under salinity stress showing 18% and 40% increases in biomass, respectively, compared to no-nanoparticle controls (Wu et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2021b). The mechanism was described as nanoceria scavenging of ROS. Thus, it enabled the modulation of channels and transporters for K⁺ retention in the mesophyll (KOR gene expression with downregulation) and the exclusion ability of N⁺ from the shoot (HKT1 gene expression with upregulation) (Liu et al. 2021b; Wu et al. 2018). Salt tolerance in cucumber was induced by foliar application (1 mg plant⁻¹, 226.4 nm, -7.7 mV) of Mn₃O₄. A 19% increase in the fresh biomass of cucumber was observed as compared to the control (Lu et al. 2020). Sorghum plants were treated with cerium oxide nanoparticles and were recorded to have drought stress tolerance. CeO₂ nanoparticle application also enhanced the temperature and UV and high light tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*.

Carbon-based nanoparticles are another example of nanomaterials being used in the improvement of crop production. Carbon quantum dots (CD) have a wide application in agriculture due to their various physical and chemical properties, *i.e.*, superficial synthesis, lower toxicity, higher stability, adjustable surface functions, higher water stability, strong photoluminescence, and biocompatibility. Drought resistance has been induced in peanut plants by applying carbon nanodots through leaf infiltration (Su et al. 2018); however, its mechanism is still unclear. The application of multiwalled carbon nanotubes increased salinity stress tolerance in Brassica napus. The nanotubes were added into Skoog medium and Murashige (Zhao et al. 2019). Hydroponically applying carbon nanotubes also induced salinity stress tolerance in broccoli (Martínez-Ballesta et al. 2016). Carbon nanotubes promoted nitric oxide (a gas-signaling molecule) and the transduction of aquaporins. Silicon nanoparticle is another nanomaterial used to increase stress tolerance in crop plants. The soil application of silicon nanoparticles increased fresh biomass (up to 27%) and chlorophyll content (up to 17%) in barely grown plants under drought stress, so recovery from drought stress was observed in these plants (Martínez-Ballesta et al. 2016). ZnO, Fe nanoparticles, and TiO₂ nanoparticles have also played a crucial role in improving plant tolerance against abiotic stresses (Sun et al. 2020; Abdel Latef et al. 2018). Drought tolerance was also observed in maize through the application of ZnO nanoparticles in soil. Plants treated with ZnO (100 mg L⁻¹, 37.7 nm, 14 mV) had a 75% increase in proline and an 18% decrease in H₂O₂ (Sun et al. 2020). A list of nanoparticles, their concentration, and their effective performance against certain abiotic stress are provided in Table 9.1.

Sr	NT (* 1		G .	T	C.	D.C
#.	Nanoparticle	Concentration	Species	Treatment	Stress	Reference
1	Ag	25, 50, 75, and 100 mg/L	Triticum aestivum	Potting soil	Heat stress	Iqbal et al. (2019)
2	Ag	0, 2, 5, and 10 mM	Triticum aestivum	Seed priming	Salinity stress	Mohamed et al. (2017)
3	Ag	0, 10, 20, 30, and 40 μg mL-1	Trigonella foenum-graecum	Petri dish exposure	Salinity stress	Hojjat and Kamyab (2017)
4	Ag	1 mg/L	Triticum aestivum	Seed priming	Salinity stress	Abou-Zeid and Ismail (2018)
5	A12O3	50 ppm	Glycine max L. cv.	Petri dish exposure	Flooding stress	Mustafa and Komatsu (2016)
6	CeO	500 mg/L	Gossypium hirsutum L.	Seed priming	Salinity stress	An et al. (2020)
7	Chitosan NPs	0, 30, 60, and 90 ppm	Hordeum vulgare L.	Foliar application	Drought stress	Behboudi et al. (2018)
8	Chitosan- PVA and CuNPs	50, 100, and 150 mg/L	Solanum lycopersicum L.	Nutrient solution	Saline stress	Hernández- Hernández et al. (2018)
9	CNTs and graphene	50 and 200µg/ ml	Catharanthus roseus	Murashige and Skoog medium	Salinity stress	McGehee et al. (2019)
10	CNTs and graphene	50 and 200µg/ ml	Gossypium hirsutum	Seed priming	Drought stress	Pandey et al. (2019)
11	Cu	3.333, 4.444, and 5.556 mg/L	Zea mays	Plants priming	Drought stress	Van Nguyen et al. (2021)
12	Fe	0, 25, 50, and 100 mg/kg	Triticum aestivum	Potting soil	Cadmium and drought stress	Adrees et al. (2020)
13	Fe2O3	0, 10, 20, and $30 _{\mu}M$	Mentha piperita L.	Hoagland solution	Salinity	Askary et al. (2017)
14	Fe3O3	0, 30, 60, and 90 ppm	Dracocephalum moldavica L.	Foliar application	Salinity stress	Moradbeygi et al. (2020)
15	Fe3O4	0.8 ppm	Fragaria × ananassa	Murashige and Skoog	Drought stress	Steinfeld et al. (2015)
16	FeSO ₄	2 g/L	Helianthus annuus	Foliar spray	Salinity stress	Torabian et al. (2017)
17	Mn	0.1, 0.5, and 1 mg/L	Capsicum annuum L.	Nanopriming	Salinity stress	Ye et al. (2020)
18	MWCNT	10, 30, 50, 100, and 200 mg/L	Dodonaeaviscosa L.	Nanopriming	Drought stress	Yusefi-Tanha et al. (2020)

 Table 9.1
 Nanoparticles, their concentrations, plant species, application, and the type of abiotic stress

(continued)

Sr #.	Nanoparticle	Concentration	Species	Treatment	Stress	Reference
19	Poly(acrylic)- CeO	~50 mg/L	Arabidopsis thaliana	Leaf infiltration	Multiple stress	Wu et al. (2017a)
20	Se	10 mg/L	Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench	Foliar and water spray	Heat stress	Djanaguiraman et al. (2018)
21	Se	0, 1, 4, 8, and 12 $_{\mu}M$	Lycopersicum esculentum	Hydroponic solution	High and low temperature stress	Haghighi and Pessarakli (2013)
22	Si	10 _µ M	Triticum aestivum	Nutrient solution	UV-B stress	Sedghi et al. (2013)
23	SiO ₂	0.5, 1, 2, and 3 mM	Solanum lycopersicum L.	Exposure in vitro	Salinity stress	Almutairi (2016)
24	SiO ₂	50 and 100 mg/L	Strawberry	Exposure in nutrient sol	Salinity stress	Avestan et al. (2019)
25	SiO ₂	0, 200, 400, and 600 mg/L	Musa acuminata "Grand Nain"	In vitro	Salinity and water deficit	Mahmoud et al. (2020)
26	TiO ₂	0, 10, 100, and 500 mg/L	Linum usitatissimum	Leaf treatment	Drought	Aghdam et al. (2016)
27	TiO ₂	0.01, 0.02, and 0.03%	Triticum aestivum L. cv. "Pishtaz"	Spraying by backpack sprayer	Drought	Jaberzadeh et al. (2013)
28	TiO ₂	0, 2, 5, and 10 ppm	Cicer arietinum L.	Amended soil	Cold stress	Mohammadi et al. (2013)
29	TiO ₂	500, 1,000, and 2,000 mg/ kg	Triticum aestivum	Amended soil	Drought stress	Faraji and Sepehri (2020)
30	Yttrium doped	100, 160, 200, and 400 mg per plant	Brassica napus	Nutrient solution	Drought	Palmqvist et al. (2017)
31	ZnO	0, 0.5, and 1 g/L	Glycine max	Petri dish exposure	Drought	Sedghi et al. (2013)
32	ZnO	10 mg/L	Abelmoschus esculentus L.	Foliar application	Salinity stress	Alabdallah and Alzahrani (2020)
33	ZnO and Si	50, 100, 150 mg/L; ZnO NPs and 150, 300 mg/L; SiNPs	Mangifera indica L.	Foliar spray	Salinity stress	Elsheery et al. (2020)

Table 9.1 (continued)

Additionally, diseases and insects can impact the quality and harvest of crops. There are concerns about the health and environmental impacts of pesticides and an increase in fungal and insect resistance (Damalas and Eleftherohorinos 2011). Despite this, novel tactics for biotic stress defense that are both environmentally benign and effective are still required. The use of nanobiotechnology in the

production of insecticides (Jameel et al. 2020), fungicides (Ma et al. 2020), and herbicides (Cao et al. 2017) has the potential to improve their effectiveness. For example, Spodoptera litura larvae fed with a mixture of thiamethoxam (10–90 mg L^{-1}) and ZnO nanoparticles (TEM size 30 nm) died at a 27% greater rate than the larvae fed in the control. Plants have been exposed to a wide range of nanoparticles to determine whether they can improve their biotic stress tolerance, including Ag- and Cu-based nanomaterials. Ag-based nanoparticles are effective in inhibiting diseases as well as nematodes (Mishra et al. 2014; Ali et al. 2015). Disease control and pest activity inhibition are two applications for copper-based nanoparticles that are commonly applied (Cumplido-Nájera et al. 2019; Borgatta et al. 2018; Ayoub et al. 2018). A 58% reduction in the progression of Fusarium oxysporum infection in watermelon was demonstrated by $Cu_3(PO_4)23H_2O$ nanoparticles (10 mg L^{-1} , 151 nm) because of their smaller size, distinct structure, and faster initial release of copper ions (Borgatta et al. 2018). Carbon nanotubes (Wang et al. 2014), carbon dots (Li et al. 2020), Si-based nanoparticles (Buchman et al. 2019), MgO nanoparticles (Huang et al. 2018; Cai et al. 2018), TiO₂ nanoparticles (Paret et al. 2013), and CeO₂ nanoparticles (Adisa et al. 2018) are examples of nanomaterials that have shown the capacity to prevent plant diseases. Many researchers have applied nanoparticles to reduce biotic stress on plants (Servin et al. 2015).

Crop losses resulting from diseases, insects, and weeds amount to more than \$2000 billion every year globally (Popp et al. 2013). Applied fungicides for disease management cost more than \$600 million per year in the United States (González-Fernández et al. 2010). *Pyricularia oryzae* is a pathogen that causes rice blast, reducing rice production by as much as 80% in Thailand (Kongcharoen et al. 2020; Srivastava et al. 2017). The fungi can quickly evolve and become resistant to present fungicides if they are applied to resistant rice varieties. Therefore, the use of nanoparticles to combat rice blasts is worth studying in the future.

Drought stress is a substantial hindrance to the production of agricultural crops in semi-arid regions. Crop yields are increased by using environmentally safe nanoparticles. Farmers in water-stressed areas may benefit from drought resilience, which can help them maintain or enhance their revenue. The use of nanotechnology to strengthen drought tolerance has been demonstrated in several plant species (Sun et al. 2021; Taran et al. 2017). Drought tolerance in sorghum increased with the use of cerium oxide nanoparticles (nanoceria). Salt tolerance in cotton was improved by seed priming using polyacrylic-acid-coated nanoceria (An et al. 2020). Making polyacrylic acid-coated cerium oxide nanoparticles for nano-priming cotton seed for sowing a one-hectare area costs less than \$30, while foliar spraying a one-hectare area costs more than \$100. If output were to grow, chemical expenses would be reduced as a result. Personnel, equipment, and utilities (such as water, gas, and electricity) are all factors that contribute to the cost of manufacturing a commercial product.

9.2.2 Dispersion of Nanomaterials

Heavy metal nanoparticles, such as Cd²⁺ quantum dots (Li et al. 2018), cerium oxide nanoparticles, and Ag nanoparticles, may constitute a threat to human health and the environment. The use of cerium oxide nanoparticles to improve plant stress tolerance has raised concerns about their biosafety, despite cerium being the most abundant rare-earth element in the soil (Tan and Chi-Lung 1970). Nanoparticles applied to plants can also reduce their ability to respond to stress (Tan et al. 2017). Therefore, aggregated nanoparticles have a smaller surface area and less cellular absorption than scattered ones (Spicer et al. 2018). As a result, the use of appropriate nanomaterials will be required for the development of nano-enabled agriculture. One technique for increasing the longevity of nanomaterials is surface conjugation, which is shown to limit heavy metal leakage (Sharifi et al. 2012). Gold nanoparticles with diameters ranging from 4 to 22 nm displayed the least intracellular degradation (Balfourier et al. 2020), with the smallest particles degrading the most rapidly. It would be good to increase the dispersion quality of nanoparticles to prevent agglomeration after application to support consistent biological activity and the application of nanomaterials in agriculture (Kobayashi et al. 2014). The dispersion of Cu-the combination of copper and chitosan-improves chitosan nanomaterial compared to their bulk equivalents (Saharan et al. 2015). Cu-chitosan nanomaterials boost tomato fresh weight (16%) and seedling length (18%) while simultaneously decreasing harmful fungus mycelial development and spore germination (Saharan et al. 2015).

Nanomaterials that are free of heavy metals and are highly dispersible in water should be considered. These molecules should be used in sustainable agriculture, which can be accomplished by using nanotechnology. It seems that employing nanoparticles derived from plant nutrients would be beneficial in preliminary studies. For example, manganese is vital for plant health and is typically found in agricultural fertilizers due to its high concentration. Mn_3O_4 nanoparticles, a novel type of nanoenzyme, can scavenge ROS. Utilizing Mn_3O_4 nanoparticles in cucumber cultivation enhanced salt resistance in cucumber (Lu et al. 2020).

9.3 Stress Detection and Early Exposure by Nanoparticles

9.3.1 Nanoparticle Sensors

Sessile crop plants have evolved erudite stress-tolerance systems. Stress sensing and signaling are two very important systems. The oxidant H_2O_2 has been shown to operate as a signaling molecule in plants (Mittler 2017; Gilroy et al. 2016). Other signaling molecules involved in plant stress responses include sugars and gaseous molecules like acetic acid esters, acetic acid, ethylene, methyl salicylate, jasmonic acid, abscisic acid, hydrogen sulfide, carbon monoxide, and nitric oxide. The

signals were transported from the root to the shoot in plants subjected to salt stress mediated by Ca²⁺ signaling events (Choi et al. 2014). In response to various environmental stresses, the patterns of these signaling molecules can change. Plants produce different Ca²⁺ signals when exposed to salinity and drought stress (Shabala et al. 2015). It is still possible to detect several signaling chemicals, including Ca^{2+} (Toyota et al. 2018), H_2O_2 (Nietzel et al. 2019), glucose (Zhu et al. 2017), and sucrose (Chaudhuri et al. 2011) in nonmodel plant species without becoming invasive plants. Several technologies, including ratiometric quantum dot sensors, DNA aptamers coated on single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs), AT15-coated carbon nanotubes for nitrogen oxide detection (Giraldo et al. 2014), and nanoneedle transistor-based Ca²⁺ sensors are effective for monitoring signaling molecules in nonmodel plant species. Glucose concentration in the leaf of Arabidopsis plants was evaluated using the TGA-OD method after 60 minutes of incubation. OD and boronic acid are used to determine whether the glucose level in the leaf has changed. In addition, they created OD nanosensors (11.3-nm leaf infiltration) to use in environmental monitoring. These nanosensors have demonstrated excellent performance in conjunction with other sensors that monitor temperature, humidity, and even stomatal activity (Di Giacomo et al. 2015; Oren et al. 2017; Koman et al. 2017). Researchers developed an electrical conductometric sensor that measures the delay between single stomata opening and closing in real time.

Nanosensors can be useful tools in the plant research field since they can fix some fundamental complications. Still, there is not much information about how plants detect the presence of Na⁺ in their surroundings (Jiang et al. 2019; Wu 2018). Through Na⁺-specific nanosensors, the researchers were able to track Na⁺ transit in plants at both granular and temporal scales. A similar problem exists with hydroxyl radicals (Mittler 2017), the most destructive ROS. This is owing to a lack of a reliable tool for researching their biological activities in stressed plants. Because fluorescent dyes such as hydroxyphenyl fluorescein do not detect hydroxyl radicals only (Setsukinai et al. 2003), also present visualization approaches rely on them to detect changes in plant development and defense. Their inclusion hampers this research in these luminous dyes. Developing hydroxyl radical-specific nanosensors will allow scientists to better understand how hydroxyl radicals function within plants.

9.3.2 Plants Sensors for Initial Stress Recognition

Early detection of stress may aid in the reduction of agricultural losses. Modern approaches for detecting chlorophyll fluorescence in leaves, evaluating morphological changes in plants, and monitoring water status employ remote sensing or hyper-spectral imaging. However, these features only represent plant performance after the stress has been established (Giraldo et al. 2019). Therefore, the early detection of stress signals should be carefully observed and investigated. It is possible to improve remote sensing by using high-resolution nanosensors that monitor stress-signaling molecules to identify crop stress. It was also proposed in the case of

transforming plants into smart plants using nanosensors (Giraldo et al. 2019). Nanosensors can detect and indicate the presence of analytes by quenching or changing the fluorescence of the light emitted by the sensor (Rong et al. 2019; Lew et al. 2020; Kwak et al. 2017). The detection of chemical signals by agricultural equipment is made possible by nanosensors, which can detect and respond to stress-signaling molecules such as H_2O_2 , glucose, and NO, and convert them to optical or radio waves. Agricultural management and the early identification of plant stress could be made more efficient and effective in the future using this type of technology. Recent advancements in the noninvasive real-time in vivo detection of glucose H_2O_2 in stressed plants by a QD system (Lew et al. 2020) illustrate the agricultural potential of nano-enabled smart plants. Using nanosensors is possible to detect stress in plants at an earlier stage and develop smart plant sensors.

Making the smart plant sensor a reality will necessitate further effort, particularly in the field of agriculture. A common occurrence in the field is a combination of high temperatures and drought (Suzuki et al. 2014). It is possible for chemical signaling to become more complex when many stresses are present at the same time. In this case, the employment of nanosensors in response to specific signaling molecules can decode signals with a higher resolution. It is possible to improve nanosensor sensitivity, selectivity, and accuracy to get a higher-decoded signal resolution in field conditions. Therefore, an important study objective should be to create a database of chemical signaling molecule alterations that respond to stress, such as Ca^{2+} and ROS scavengers. An organic field-effect transistor for detecting carbon monoxide, a signaling molecule in plants, was constructed using zinc oxide nanoparticles as the active medium (Narayana et al. 2020).

9.4 Agrochemicals Based on Nanoparticles

9.4.1 Nanofertilizers and Nanopesticides

Commercial fertilizers are expected to account for 30% and 50% of total crop yields. However, 40–90% of agrochemicals are lost to the environment each year. Even though plants have high nutrient utilization efficiency for essential nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) components, there is still room for improvement in terms of agrochemical efficacy in plants (Adisa et al. 2019). This is because plant nutrient utilization efficiency for essential N, P, and K components is between 30–35%, 18–20%, and 35–40%, respectively (Adisa et al. 2019). Plant performance can be improved by using engineered nanomaterials. There are two types of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) that deliver one or more nutrients directly to plants and boost plant performance. "Engineered nanoparticles as active components and demonstrates biocidal action." Nanoagrochemicals are expected to perform better in agricultural production compared to conventional agrochemicals. Nanoagrochemicals are projected to boost efficacy by 20–30% as compared to conventional ones (Kah et al. 2018). Foliar Mn nanoparticle treatment increased rootlet

number, root and shoot length, and biomass by 40–70% (Pradhan et al. 2013). Nanoparticles encapsulating common agrochemicals like dsRNA, siRNA, ascorbic acid, and abscisic acid might be used to release the nanoparticles in a controlled and targeted manner. Several recent studies have added to the body of knowledge about nanopesticides and nanofertilizers (Mikula et al. 2020; Dimkpa and Bindraban 2017).

It is possible to control the release and dispersion of nanoagrochemicals by altering their surface properties. In experiments involving the controlled release of nanoformulations (37% of the studies), the most frequently used trigger is pH (Camara et al. 2019). Using the GA3-HMSN/Fe₃O₄ combination, the release of the growth promoter GA3 (gibberellic acid 3) at pH greater than 5 or less than 4 resulted in a 44% increase in cabbage growth. Temperature- and pH-responsive nanopolymers were developed to administer and release agrochemicals into tomato plants (Zhang et al. 2020b). Three days after foliar spraying tomato with the star polymer PAA50b-PNIPAm450, up to 43% of the star polymer was translocated to other plant compartments, including the roots (Zhang et al. 2020b). Stimuli including light, temperature, enzymes, and the redox state are all used to produce a response. To improve the surface functionalization of nanoagrochemicals, aptamers, which are oligonucleotide or peptide molecules that bind precisely to specific targets, have been proposed for use. It was discovered that beta-cyclodextrin-conjugated quantum dots coupled to a shorter chloroplast transit peptide were significantly more effective than random peptides or controls that did not contain any peptides. A better understanding of the uptake and fate of customized nanofertilizers or nanopesticides and their impacts on plants and the surrounding environment may pave the way for their application in sustainable agriculture.

Until now, nanofertilizers and nanopesticides are still not commonly used in agriculture due to concerns about biosafety, ambiguities about their long-term environmental impact, and the likelihood of interspecies transfer. However, these concerns have been addressed. A lack of information about the long-term effects of nanoproduct accumulation in the environment on ecological systems and a lag in the development of legislation and regulations governing their usage are also contributing to the current situation. Still, more research work is needed to understand the long-term environmental destiny and accumulation of nanoparticles in agricultural production. Farmers and the general public may be more accepting of nanotechnology-enabled farming if they are taught about the benefits of the technology and the most effective ways to use it.

9.4.2 Targeting the Chloroplast to Synchronize Plant Performance

Nanomaterials can be used to aid the regulated release and transport of agrochemicals to specific organelles, organs, or tissues in plants and the transport of agrochemicals to specific organelles, organs, or tissues in animals, and this can help reduce agrochemical waste by increasing the efficiency of the process. Nanoparticles are transported in a regulated manner in animal cells (Anselmo and Mitragotri 2016), suggesting that the distribution of nanoproducts to plants might be tailored. Methyl viologen and ascorbic acid have been successfully delivered into chloroplasts to manage their redox state by employing quantum dots coated with beta-cyclodextrin and truncated guidance peptides (Santana et al. 2020) to regulate the redox status of the chloroplasts. This work indicated fine-tuning in the activities of cell organelles while using fewer agrochemicals in their experiments. To obtain superior chloroplast colocalization, the results imply that QDs alone are insufficient and that an optimal nanoplatform design is required.

However, it has taken an extremely long period and high cost to get to the high efficiency of targeted distribution in plants. It has been achieved principally through a combination of nanomaterials and peptide-guiding molecules (Zhu et al. 2012; Santana et al. 2020). The discovery of novel technologies for the targeted administration of nanoparticles will enable a wider range of agricultural applications for this methodology. Changing the size and charge of nanoparticles allow for the infiltration of cell compartments such as the apoplast in plants and the epidermis and guard cells in leaves (Hu et al. 2020). This method has certain advantages and also limitations. Future nanoparticle delivery systems may be capable of efficiently delivering nanoparticles to plant tissues or organs and specific cell types and compartments through the engineering of nanomaterials with controllable features, such as size, charge, shape, and hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity, among other characteristics.

It is necessary to develop methods for dispersing nanomaterials into certain cell organelles, along with developing ways for dispersing nanomaterials to specific plant tissues such as the apical meristem of a shoot or organs such as flowers. Neutral and negatively charged nanoparticles are more effective at migrating from the roots to the shoot compared to positively charged CeO₂ nanoparticles, which are demonstrated to attach to and primarily reside on roots (Spielman-Sun et al. 2019). Therefore, an in-depth examination of the nanomaterials transported into plant tissues and organs, cells, and organelles is required. Furthermore, the development and management of nanoparticle mobility in plants should be carried out within the intended application of the studied materials.

Abiotic stress causes a decline in photosynthetic activity in all plants, regardless of the type of stress experienced (Foyer and Shigeoka 2011). This mechanism is related to an increase in ROS in plants when subjected to abiotic stress. An excess of ROS can induce oxidative damage to proteins, lipids, and cell structures and programmed cell death (Liu et al. 2021a; Das and Roychoudhury 2014). Plant biologists and breeders are working on producing more efficient plants against scavenging reactive oxygen species to increase their abiotic stress tolerance. Genetic transformation is restricted to model plants or species that are easily altered. Thus, plants must be protected from abiotic stress, and their photosynthetic efficiency must be increased. A scalable and universal approach is needed to achieve these goals. This technique may use ROS-scavenging nanoparticles, such as cerium oxide nanoparticles and manganese oxide nanoparticles, to reduce the formation of reactive oxygen species. When plants are treated with nanoceria, the improved ROS

scavenging capacity of leaf mesophyll cells increased the carbon assimilation rate. Plants treated with SWCNT had higher ROS scavenging capacities and higher electron transport rates than control plants (Giraldo et al. 2014). Other ROS-scavenging nanomaterials may aid in protecting chloroplasts from oxidative stress and increasing photosynthesis in plants. By utilizing a newly developed targeted delivery method, it may be possible to preserve chloroplasts from stress and convert them into a "chloroplast factory," allowing for a wider range of applications. This newly developed technique may have applications in the pharmaceutical and bioenergy industries and the field of plant photosynthesis research.

9.5 Transgenic Events Assisted by Nanoparticles

9.5.1 Nanomaterials as Delivery Platform

Agrobacterium tumefaciens or gene gun bombardment are the two most prevalent methods of transformation to produce transgenic plants. These two approaches target a small number of genetically sensitive plant species or cause harm to the plants (Landry and Mitter 2019; Yu et al. 2017). Other than model species, callus cultivation (Altpeter et al. 2016) is inefficient and labor-intensive. Nanobiotechnology has recently demonstrated a considerable promise in creating transgenic wild-type plants, and it has the potential to be used in a much wider range of plant species than model plants. Single-walled carbon nanotubes have the potential to transport functional genetic elements into chloroplasts and nuclei (Demirer et al. 2019; Kwak et al. 2019). Wide properties have been shown to allow carbon nanotubes to enter plant cells (Wong et al. 2016; Chaudhuri et al. 2011). Variations in pH across cell organelles should trigger the release of plasmid loads. These studies advocate employing nanoparticles rather than *Agrobacterium* or gene cannon bombardment to provide functional genetic resources to plants (Kwak et al. 2019).

The use of positively charged carbon dots (2.0-10.0 nm in diameter) to transport siRNA to plants resulted in a reduction in GFP (green fluorescent protein) expression in plants. For the first time, carbon dots were used to deliver siRNA to plants to silence genes. GFP was precisely delivered to tobacco chloroplasts by using peptide/pDNA complexes (Thagun et al. 2019). They employed nanomaterials to make transgenic plants, which included nonmodel and model species. Nanomaterials can also be used as scaffolding to transfer unstable molecules such as RNA and RNA polymerase (e.g., siRNA or dsRNA). After loading dsRNA onto a clay nanosheet, which had a mean diameter of 45 nm and side dimensions ranging from 20–80 nm (*d*-value = 0.82), the stability of the loaded dsRNA significantly improved for 20 days (Mitter et al. 2017). A siRNA delivery system based on DNA nanostructures was used to enhance the growth of tobacco (Zhang et al. 2019).

Researchers and farmers may favor carbon nanotubes over other nanomaterials because they are less expensive or more biocompatible (Mohanta et al. 2019). It is

possible that increasing the number of nanoparticles for supplying functional genetic resources may improve adoption. A study of *Arabidopsis* plants found that polyethylenimine (PEI)-coated gold nanoparticles effectively delivered siRNA to the NPR1 gene (Lei et al. 2020). Carbon dots built on PEI can be used to carry DNA or RNA molecules. It is feasible under theoretical conditions to use positively charged nanomaterials such as carbon dots or silica nanoparticles to transport negatively charged functional genetic components into plant cells. The fact that nanoparticles are associated with biosafety issues suggests that this could be a cost-effective method to conserve costs. The availability of nanomaterials will impact the frequency by which this nano-enabled transgenic approach will be employed.

9.6 Nano-Enabled-CRISPR-Cas Complex

As an added benefit to the construction of transgenic plants, nanomaterials may be employed to provide a platform for organelle-specific CRISPR-Cas genome editing, which would otherwise be impossible. Although tissue culture is now widely employed in plant breeding, it is still crucial in the process. It is still restricted to a few numbers of plant species, genotypes, and organs. It was demonstrated that nanoparticles might be used to deliver the CRISPR-Cas9 system (Wei et al. 2020). However, there have been no reports of plant-based nano-enabled CRISPR-Cas genome editing that have been published. One of the most likely causes is barriers within the plants' cell wall (Albersheim et al. 2011). Recently, it was discovered that a virus was carrying the ultra-compact genome editor CRISPR Cas, which was previously thought to be inactive. A minimally functional CRISPR-Cas system comprises the Cas protein (70 kDa, about 3 nm Rmin (Erickson 2009) and a CRISPR array (Pausch et al. 2020)). Due to the ability to manipulate the size of the complex, it may be possible to deliver nanoparticle CRISPR-Cas complexes to plants more efficiently and precisely using this technology. The complex's size can be adjusted to pass more easily through the plant's cell membrane. As a result, nanoparticles may prove to be a useful vector for the CRISPR-Cas system, targeting certain organelles or plant regions. The CRISPR-Cas system may be supplied to the chloroplast using nanoparticles directed by a chloroplast transit peptide, transforming it into a plant factory (Santana et al. 2020). Nanotechnology can be utilized to enable CRISPR-Cas gene editing in plants (Demirer et al. 2021). Details on the application of nanomaterials for CRISPR genome editing in transportation, species independence, germline transformation, and gene editing efficiency have been discussed.

9.7 Seed Nanopriming

Drought, salt, and heat are all factors that impact seedling growth, with the most noticeable influence occurring during the germination stage of most crops. The germination, establishment, and adaptation of plants to a range of conditions are all assisted by seed vigor. The rate of seed germination and the uniformity of seed germination can be improved by utilizing a range of approaches and strategies. A range of techniques is available for priming seeds, including the use of a salt solution, an osmotic solution with a low-water potential, bioactive chemical combinations, solid matrix priming, and chemo-priming. As the stressed green gram (*Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek) variety Pusa Ratna was halo primed with 35 mmol L⁻¹ NaCl, the fresh weight increased by 47% (under salt stress) and 28% (under drought stress) compared to unprimed controls under stress (Jisha and Puthur 2014).

It is a novel method of seed priming that, compared to conventional priming strategies, can significantly improve crop development and performance, particularly in adverse conditions such as drought, salty environment, and heat. Priming seeds with nanoparticles has the potential to improve crop development and performance significantly. When cotton seeds were primed with cerium oxide nanoparticles (2nm, 51.7 mV, 500 mg L⁻¹, nanopriming) and grown under salt stress (200 mmol L⁻¹ NaCl), fresh seedling weight increased by 41% (An et al. 2020), compared to a water-primed control. Many crop species have been shown to benefit from nanopriming, including wheat, Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles (Sundaria et al. 2019), ZnO nanoparticles (Rizwan et al. 2019), rice, silver nanoparticles (Mahakham et al. 2017), sorghum (Maswada et al. 2018), broad bean (Younis et al. 2019), cotton, cerium oxide nanoparticles, onion (An et al. 2020), and gold nanoparticles (Acharya et al. 2019). In comparison to an untreated control, onion seed nanopriming with gold nanoparticles (93.6 nm, -8.5 mV, 5.4 mg L¹, nanopriming) resulted in a 69 percent increase in emergence percentage and a 24 percent increase in mean yield. Gilbertson et al. stated that nanoZn/ZnO is one of the most promising seed-coating options based on the increase in seed germination and the environmental effect of the embodied energy (Gilbertson et al. 2020).

Despite the promising findings obtained by seed nanopriming, additional research is required to comprehend the fundamental principles fully. Nanoceria priming can improve crop salinity stress resistance, which modulates the plant's reactive oxygen species (ROS) and ion homeostasis signaling pathways (An et al. 2020). Many additional seed nanopriming methods have been identified or proposed. There are four techniques for reducing electrolyte leakage: using ZnO nanoparticles (Rizwan et al. 2019), Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles (Maswada et al. 2018), or silver nanoparticles (Younis et al. 2019) or a combination of the three methods. The first goal is to reduce lipid peroxidation, and the second is to improve the amount of water in plants and the effectiveness of photosynthesis and respiration.

What methods of seed nanopriming persist when a single nanomaterial is applied to a range of plant species, and how does this affect the experiment's outcome? What processes, such as changed redox state or seed dormancy, can be used to explain the phenomenon of seed nanopriming? The uptake, distribution, and fate of nanoparticles and their interactions with seeds should all be investigated further by looking at the mechanisms that cause these events to occur in the first place. When it comes to nanomaterial uptake, the size of the hole pores in the seed coat matters. A concern has been expressed regarding differences across plant species in the spread of nanomaterials. Is there a relationship between the distribution pattern of nanomaterials in seeds and their biological effects? What is the relationship between this and the scavenging of reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediated by nanomaterials or epigenetic changes? Is there a critical stage or position in the seed nanopriming process critical for nanomaterials' biological impacts? Combining seed nanopriming with seed coating technologies may be worth investigating to ensure that efficacy and performance are not degraded over time. The nano-enabled seed coating technique used in the agrochemical business is only vaguely known by the general public (Acharya et al. 2019).

9.8 Light Harvesting by Nanoparticles

Photosynthesis is largely dependent on the availability of visible light. Plants do not make good use of most natural light sources. nIR light is absorbed mostly by chlorophylls in plants, whereas UV light causes chlorophylls to deteriorate (Antonaru et al. 2020). Even though the ozone layer prevents UV-C (100–280 nm), UV-A (315–400 nm) and UV-B (280–315 nm) are still able to reach the Earth (Stapleton 1992). It is difficult to see through the bottom leaves of plants in high-density cropping systems because of limited visible light. Visible light is diminished during overcast or rainy days. Sustainable agriculture may benefit from developing new photosynthesis technologies that allow plants to utilize a greater proportion of lost light resources.

Although cyanobacteria contain chlorophyll d and f, which absorb near-infrared light (Airs et al. 2014), cyanobacteria could only utilize light with wavelengths up to approximately 750 nm. Chlorophyll d and f are pigments that can be introduced into higher plants to escape the photochemical red limit of the light spectrum. nIR light has a wavelength limit of 800 nm and cannot be used. The use of nanomaterials to transform ultraviolet and near-infrared radiation into visible light for plant photosynthesis may pique the interest of scientists, farmers, and even the industrial sector. By fine-tuning and complementing plant photosynthesis, this revolutionary technology can potentially enhance food production by as much as 50% considerably.

The upconversion and downconversion of nanoparticles are two types of nanoparticles commonly employed in biophotonics and nanomedicine to convert nearinfrared and ultraviolet light to visible light (Loo et al. 2019). It has been demonstrated that upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs) doped with Yb, Nd, and Er can convert light stimulated between 808 and 980 nm to visible light between 510 and 570 nm (Wiesholler et al. 2019). When downconversion nanoparticles (DNCP), such as bNaYF₄:Gd³⁺ and Tb³⁺, were encapsulated in PEI, they converted ultraviolet light with a wavelength of 273 nm into visible light (between 480 and 630 nm in wavelength) (Malik et al. 2019). Shoot length and dry weight were increased in rice by 19% and 64%, respectively, when CD 1:0.2 was used as a converter for converting UV radiation to PAR (photosynthetically active radiation). These UCNP and DCNP nanoparticles can be sprayed on the surface of leaves or injected directly into cells to assist plants in maintaining photosynthesis during periods of low light, such as shadow or continuous cloudy days. Because of advances in nanotechnology, this approach to photosynthetic light amplification may be helpful for agriculture and allied industries, such as biofuel manufacturing. Nanomaterials can be used to transform near-infrared and ultraviolet energy into visible light in plants.

9.9 Capturing More Electrons

Photosynthesis eliminates more than 120 billion tons of CO_2 from the atmosphere each year in terrestrial ecosystems. Photosynthesis in green plants is based on the harvesting of light and the passage of captured electrons into the electron transport chain, both critical processes. Reactive oxygen species can form when an excessive number of electrons are removed (Foyer 2018). On overcast and rainy days, especially when plants are shaded, they might not capture enough electrons to complete the light response. New tactics that allow plants to gather more electrons in lowlight conditions may considerably boost plant photosynthesis and output. Plants may be able to collect more electrons with the assistance of nanomaterials. A structure is formed by a combination of organic and metallic components.

Nanomaterials are capable of both absorbing and transmitting electromagnetic radiation. The excited state can be transmitted to gold nanoparticles that have been triggered by light (Robatjazi et al. 2015). Thus, photosynthesis could be enhanced in low-light conditions by incorporating light-capturing nanomaterials into the chloroplasts. Research on innovative light-harvesting nanomaterials and their tailored distribution to chloroplasts should be carried out in the future. Scientists have proposed the use of nanomaterials to fine-tune plant photosynthesis under low-light conditions. These materials have the potential to trap more electrons.

9.10 Future Perspectives

We discussed the potential applications of plant nanobiotechnology in modern and sustainable farming practices. Plant nanobiotechnology could improve stress tolerance, sensing and early detection, pesticide targeted delivery and controlled release, nonmodel crop species transgenic events, and seed nanopriming. Heavy metals should be avoided in agricultural nanomaterials, and their dispersibility should be as high as possible. As previously asserted, more research into the biological effects of nanoenzymes, such as Mn_3O_4 nanoparticles, on stressed plants is required. It is critical to keep looking into the mechanisms that influence nanoparticle absorption, dispersion, and fate, as well as their interactions with seeds. With the help of nanomaterials, plants can be converted into chloroplast factories, enhancing their functionality. In addition, nanomaterials can transform ultraviolet and near-infrared light into visible light, enabling more electrons to be retrieved for photosynthesis when employed in low-light settings. According to the researchers, understanding how nanoparticles help plants cope with stress should make it easier to develop nanomaterials specifically useful in agricultural applications. Legislation and regulatory restrictions may help reduce the biosafety risks associated with the use of nanoparticles in agriculture and assuage public worries about nanomaterials. Nanotechnology has the potential to have a substantial impact on agriculture.

References

- Abdel Latef AAH, Srivastava AK, El-sadek MSA, Kordrostami M, Tran LSP (2018) Titanium dioxide nanoparticles improve growth and enhance tolerance of broad bean plants under saline soil conditions. Land Degrad Dev 29(4):1065–1073
- Abou-Zeid H, Ismail G (2018) The Role of Priming with Biosynthesized Silver Nanoparticles in the Response of Triticum aestivum L to Salt Stress. Egypt J Bot 58(1):73–85
- Acharya P, Jayaprakasha G, Crosby KM, Jifon JL, Patil BS (2019) Green-synthesized nanoparticles enhanced seedling growth, yield, and quality of onion (Allium cepa L.). ACS Sustain Chem Eng 7(17):14580–14590
- Adisa IO, Reddy Pullagurala VL, Rawat S, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Dimkpa CO, Elmer WH, White JC, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2018) Role of cerium compounds in Fusarium wilt suppression and growth enhancement in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). J Agric Food Chem 66(24):5959–5970
- Adisa IO, Pullagurala VLR, Peralta-Videa JR, Dimkpa CO, Elmer WH, Gardea-Torresdey JL, White JC (2019) Recent advances in nano-enabled fertilizers and pesticides: a critical review of mechanisms of action. Environ Sci Nano 6(7):2002–2030
- Adrees M, Khan ZS, Ali S, Hafeez M, Khalid S, Ur Rehman MZ, Hussain A, Hussain K, Chatha SAS, Rizwan M (2020) Simultaneous mitigation of cadmium and drought stress in wheat by soil application of iron nanoparticles. Chemosphere 238:124681
- Aghdam MTB, Mohammadi H, Ghorbanpour M (2016) Effects of nanoparticulate anatase titanium dioxide on physiological and biochemical performance of Linum usitatissimum (Linaceae) under well-watered and drought stress conditions. Brazil J Bot 39(1):139–146
- Airs R, Temperton B, Sambles C, Farnham G, Skill S, Llewellyn C (2014) Chlorophyll f and chlorophyll d are produced in the cyanobacterium Chlorogloeopsis fritschii when cultured under natural light and near-infrared radiation. FEBS Lett 588(20):3770–3777
- Alabdallah NM, Alzahrani HS (2020) The potential mitigation effect of ZnO nanoparticles on [Abelmoschus esculentus L. Moench] metabolism under salt stress conditions. Saudi J Biol Sci 27(11):3132–3137
- Albersheim P, Darvill A, Roberts K, Sederoff R, Staehelin A (2011) Cell walls and plant anatomy. Plant Cell Walls:241–242

- Ali M, Kim B, Belfield KD, Norman D, Brennan M, Ali GS (2015) Inhibition of Phytophthora parasitica and P. capsici by silver nanoparticles synthesized using aqueous extract of Artemisia absinthium. Phytopathology 105(9):1183–1190
- Almutairi ZM (2016) Effect of nano-silicon application on the expression of salt tolerance genes in germinating tomato ('Solanum lycopersicum'L.) seedlings under salt stress. Plant Omics 9(1):106–114
- Altpeter F, Springer NM, Bartley LE, Blechl AE, Brutnell TP, Citovsky V, Conrad LJ, Gelvin SB, Jackson DP, Kausch AP (2016) Advancing crop transformation in the era of genome editing. Plant Cell 28(7):1510–1520
- An J, Hu P, Li F, Wu H, Shen Y, White JC, Tian X, Li Z, Giraldo JP (2020) Emerging investigator series: molecular mechanisms of plant salinity stress tolerance improvement by seed priming with cerium oxide nanoparticles. Environ Sci Nano 7(8):2214–2228
- Anselmo AC, Mitragotri S (2016) Nanoparticles in the clinic. Bioeng Transl Med 1(1):10-29
- Antonaru LA, Cardona T, Larkum AW, Nürnberg DJ (2020) Global distribution of a chlorophyll f cyanobacterial marker. ISME J 14(9):2275–2287
- Askary M, Talebi SM, Amini F, Bangan ADB (2017) Effects of iron nanoparticles on Mentha piperita L. under salinity stress. Biologija 63(1)
- Avestan S, Ghasemnezhad M, Esfahani M, Byrt CS (2019) Application of nano-silicon dioxide improves salt stress tolerance in strawberry plants. Agronomy 9(5):246
- Ayoub HA, Khairy M, Elsaid S, Rashwan FA, Abdel-Hafez HF (2018) Pesticidal activity of nanostructured metal oxides for generation of alternative pesticide formulations. J Agric Food Chem 66(22):5491–5498
- Balfourier A, Luciani N, Wang G, Lelong G, Ersen O, Khelfa A, Alloyeau D, Gazeau F, Carn F (2020) Unexpected intracellular biodegradation and recrystallization of gold nanoparticles. Proc Natl Acad Sci 117(1):103–113
- Behboudi F, Tahmasebi Sarvestani Z, Kassaee MZ, Modares Sanavi SAM, Sorooshzadeh A, Ahmadi SB (2018) Evaluation of chitosan nanoparticles effects on yield and yield components of barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) under late season drought stress. Journal of Water and Environmental. Nanotechnology 3(1):22–39
- Boghossian AA, Sen F, Gibbons BM, Sen S, Faltermeier SM, Giraldo JP, Zhang CT, Zhang J, Heller DA, Strano MS (2013) Application of nanoparticle antioxidants to enable hyperstable chloroplasts for solar energy harvesting. Adv Energy Mater 3(7):881–893
- Borgatta J, Ma C, Hudson-Smith N, Elmer W, Plaza Perez CD, De La Torre-Roche R, Zuverza-Mena N, Haynes CL, White JC, Hamers RJ (2018) Copper based nanomaterials suppress root fungal disease in watermelon (Citrullus lanatus): role of particle morphology, composition and dissolution behavior. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 6(11):14847–14856
- Buchman JT, Elmer WH, Ma C, Landy KM, White JC, Haynes CL (2019) Chitosan-Coated mesoporous silica nanoparticle treatment of Citrullus lanatus (watermelon): Enhanced fungal disease suppression and modulated expression of stress-related genes. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 7(24):19649–19659
- Cai L, Chen J, Liu Z, Wang H, Yang H, Ding W (2018) Magnesium oxide nanoparticles: effective agricultural antibacterial agent against Ralstonia solanacearum. Front Microbiol 9:790
- Camara MC, Campos EVR, Monteiro RA, do Espirito Santo Pereira A, de Freitas Proença PL, Fraceto LF (2019) Development of stimuli-responsive nano-based pesticides: emerging opportunities for agriculture. J Nanobiotechnol 17(1):1–19
- Cao L, Zhou Z, Niu S, Cao C, Li X, Shan Y, Huang Q (2017) Positive-charge functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles as nanocarriers for controlled 2, 4-dichlorophenoxy acetic acid sodium salt release. J Agric Food Chem 66(26):6594–6603
- Chaudhuri B, Hörmann F, Frommer WB (2011) Dynamic imaging of glucose flux impedance using FRET sensors in wild-type Arabidopsis plants. J Exp Bot 62(7):2411–2417
- Choi W-G, Toyota M, Kim S-H, Hilleary R, Gilroy S (2014) Salt stress-induced Ca2+ waves are associated with rapid, long-distance root-to-shoot signaling in plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111(17):6497–6502

- Cumplido-Nájera CF, González-Morales S, Ortega-Ortíz H, Cadenas-Pliego G, Benavides-Mendoza A, Juárez-Maldonado A (2019) The application of copper nanoparticles and potassium silicate stimulate the tolerance to Clavibacter michiganensis in tomato plants. Sci Hortic 245:82–89
- Damalas CA, Eleftherohorinos IG (2011) Pesticide exposure, safety issues, and risk assessment indicators. Int J Environ Res Public Health 8(5):1402–1419
- Das K, Roychoudhury A (2014) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROS-scavengers during environmental stress in plants. Front Environ Sci 2:53
- Demirer GS, Zhang H, Matos JL, Goh NS, Cunningham FJ, Sung Y, Chang R, Aditham AJ, Chio L, Cho M-J (2019) High aspect ratio nanomaterials enable delivery of functional genetic material without DNA integration in mature plants. Nat Nanotechnol 14(5):456–464
- Demirer GS, Silva TN, Jackson CT, Thomas JB, Ehrhardt DW, Rhee SY, Mortimer JC, Landry MP (2021) Nanotechnology to advance CRISPR–Cas genetic engineering of plants. Nat Nanotechnol 16(3):243–250
- Di Giacomo R, Daraio C, Maresca B (2015) Plant nanobionic materials with a giant temperature response mediated by pectin-Ca2+. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112(15):4541–4545
- Dietz K-J, Herth S (2011) Plant nanotoxicology. Trends Plant Sci 16(11):582-589
- Dimkpa CO, Bindraban PS (2017) Nanofertilizers: new products for the industry? J Agric Food Chem 66(26):6462–6473
- Djanaguiraman M, Nair R, Giraldo JP, Prasad PVV (2018) Cerium oxide nanoparticles decrease drought-induced oxidative damage in sorghum leading to higher photosynthesis and grain yield. ACS Omega 3(10):14406–14416
- Elsheery NI, Helaly MN, El-Hoseiny HM, Alam-Eldein SM (2020) Zinc oxide and silicone nanoparticles to improve the resistance mechanism and annual productivity of salt-stressed mango trees. Agronomy 10(4):558
- Erickson HP (2009) Size and shape of protein molecules at the nanometer level determined by sedimentation, gel filtration, and electron microscopy. Biol Proc Online 11(1):32–51
- Faraji J, Sepehri A (2020) Exogenous nitric oxide improves the protective effects of TiO 2 nanoparticles on growth, antioxidant system, and photosynthetic performance of wheat seedlings under drought stress. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 20(2):703–714
- Foyer CH (2018) Reactive oxygen species, oxidative signaling and the regulation of photosynthesis. Environ Exp Bot 154:134–142
- Foyer CH, Shigeoka S (2011) Understanding oxidative stress and antioxidant functions to enhance photosynthesis. Plant Physiol 155(1):93–100
- Gao L, Zhuang J, Nie L, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Gu N, Wang T, Feng J, Yang D, Perrett S (2007) Intrinsic peroxidase-like activity of ferromagnetic nanoparticles. Nat Nanotechnol 2(9):577–583
- Gilbertson LM, Pourzahedi L, Laughton S, Gao X, Zimmerman JB, Theis TL, Westerhoff P, Lowry GV (2020) Guiding the design space for nanotechnology to advance sustainable crop production. Nat Nanotechnol 15(9):801–810
- Gilroy S, Białasek M, Suzuki N, Górecka M, Devireddy AR, Karpiński S, Mittler R (2016) ROS, calcium, and electric signals: key mediators of rapid systemic signaling in plants. Plant Physiol 171(3):1606–1615
- Giraldo JP, Landry MP, Faltermeier SM, McNicholas TP, Iverson NM, Boghossian AA, Reuel NF, Hilmer AJ, Sen F, Brew JA (2014) Plant nanobionics approach to augment photosynthesis and biochemical sensing. Nat Mater 13(4):400–408
- Giraldo JP, Wu H, Newkirk GM, Kruss S (2019) Nanobiotechnology approaches for engineering smart plant sensors. Nat Nanotechnol 14(6):541–553
- González-Fernández R, Prats E, Jorrín-Novo JV (2010) Proteomics of plant pathogenic fungi. J Biomed Biotechnol
- Haghighi M, Pessarakli M (2013) Influence of silicon and nano-silicon on salinity tolerance of cherry tomatoes (Solanum lycopersicum L.) at early growth stage. Sci Hortic 161:111–117
- Hernández-Hernández H, González-Morales S, Benavides-Mendoza A, Ortega-Ortiz H, Cadenas-Pliego G, Juárez-Maldonado A (2018) Effects of chitosan–PVA and Cu nanoparticles on the growth and antioxidant capacity of tomato under saline stress. Molecules 23(1):178

- Hojjat SS, Kamyab M (2017) The effect of silver nanoparticle on Fenugreek seed germination under salinity levels. Russ Agric Sci 43(1):61–65
- Hu P, An J, Faulkner MM, Wu H, Li Z, Tian X, Giraldo JP (2020) Nanoparticle charge and size control foliar delivery efficiency to plant cells and organelles. ACS Nano 14(7):7970–7986
- Huang Z, Rajasekaran P, Ozcan A, Santra S (2018) Antimicrobial magnesium hydroxide nanoparticles as an alternative to Cu biocide for crop protection. J Agric Food Chem 66(33):8679–8686
- Iqbal M, Raja NI, Mashwani Z-U-R, Hussain M, Ejaz M, Yasmeen F (2019) Effect of silver nanoparticles on growth of wheat under heat stress. Iran J Sci Technol Trans A Sci 43(2):387–395
- Jaberzadeh A, Moaveni P, Moghadam HRT, Zahedi H (2013) Influence of bulk and nanoparticles titanium foliar application on some agronomic traits, seed gluten and starch contents of wheat subjected to water deficit stress. Notulae Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca 41(1):201–207
- Jameel M, Shoeb M, Khan MT, Ullah R, Mobin M, Farooqi MK, Adnan SM (2020) Enhanced insecticidal activity of thiamethoxam by zinc oxide nanoparticles: A novel nanotechnology approach for pest control. ACS omega 5(3):1607–1615
- Jiang Z, Zhou X, Tao M, Yuan F, Liu L, Wu F, Wu X, Xiang Y, Niu Y, Liu F (2019) Plant cellsurface GIPC sphingolipids sense salt to trigger Ca 2+ influx. Nature 572(7769):341–346
- Jisha K, Puthur JT (2014) Halopriming of seeds imparts tolerance to NaCl and PEG induced stress in Vigna radiata (L.) Wilczek varieties. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 20(3):303–312
- Kah M, Kookana RS, Gogos A, Bucheli TD (2018) A critical evaluation of nanopesticides and nanofertilizers against their conventional analogues. Nat Nanotechnol 13(8):677–684
- Kobayashi K, Wei J, Iida R, Ijiro K, Niikura K (2014) Surface engineering of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. Polym J 46(8):460–468
- Koman VB, Lew TT, Wong MH, Kwak S-Y, Giraldo JP, Strano MS (2017) Persistent drought monitoring using a microfluidic-printed electro-mechanical sensor of stomata in planta. Lab Chip 17(23):4015–4024
- Kongcharoen N, Kaewsalong N, Dethoup T (2020) Efficacy of fungicides in controlling rice blast and dirty panicle diseases in Thailand. Sci Rep 10(1):1–7
- Kwak S-Y, Wong MH, Lew TTS, Bisker G, Lee MA, Kaplan A, Dong J, Liu AT, Koman VB, Sinclair R (2017) Nanosensor technology applied to living plant systems. Annu Rev Anal Chem 10:113–140
- Kwak S-Y, Lew TTS, Sweeney CJ, Koman VB, Wong MH, Bohmert-Tatarev K, Snell KD, Seo JS, Chua N-H, Strano MS (2019) Chloroplast-selective gene delivery and expression in planta using chitosan-complexed single-walled carbon nanotube carriers. Nat Nanotechnol 14(5):447–455
- Landry MP, Mitter N (2019) How nanocarriers delivering cargos in plants can change the GMO landscape. Nat Nanotechnol 14(6):512–514
- Lei W-X, An Z-S, Zhang B-H, Wu Q, Gong W-J, Li J-M, Chen W-L (2020) Construction of goldsiRNA NPR1 nanoparticles for effective and quick silencing of NPR1 in Arabidopsis thaliana. RSC Adv 10(33):19300–19308
- Lew TTS, Koman VB, Silmore KS, Seo JS, Gordiichuk P, Kwak S-Y, Park M, Ang MC-Y, Khong DT, Lee MA (2020) Real-time detection of wound-induced H 2 O 2 signalling waves in plants with optical nanosensors. Nat Plants 6(4):404–415
- Li J, Wu H, Santana I, Fahlgren M, Giraldo JP (2018) Standoff optical glucose sensing in photosynthetic organisms by a quantum dot fluorescent probe. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(34):28279–28289
- Li Y, Xu X, Wu Y, Zhuang J, Zhang X, Zhang H, Lei B, Hu C, Liu Y (2020) A review on the effects of carbon dots in plant systems. Mater Chem Front 4(2):437–448
- Liu J, Fu C, Li G, Khan MN, Wu H (2021a) ROS Homeostasis and Plant Salt Tolerance: Plant Nanobiotechnology Updates. Sustainability 13(6):3552
- Liu J, Li G, Chen L, Gu J, Wu H, Li Z (2021b) Cerium oxide nanoparticles improve cotton salt tolerance by enabling better ability to maintain cytosolic K+/Na+ ratio. J Nanobiotechnol 19(1):1–16
- Loo JF-C, Chien Y-H, Yin F, Kong S-K, Ho H-P, Yong K-T (2019) Upconversion and downconversion nanoparticles for biophotonics and nanomedicine. Coord Chem Rev 400:213042

- Lu L, Huang M, Huang Y, Corvini PF-X, Ji R, Zhao L (2020) Mn 3 O 4 nanozymes boost endogenous antioxidant metabolites in cucumber (Cucumis sativus) plant and enhance resistance to salinity stress. Environ Sci Nano 7(6):1692–1703
- Ma C, Borgatta J, Hudson BG, Tamijani AA, De La Torre-Roche R, Zuverza-Mena N, Shen Y, Elmer W, Xing B, Mason SE (2020) Advanced material modulation of nutritional and phytohormone status alleviates damage from soybean sudden death syndrome. Nat Nanotechnol 15(12):1033–1042
- Machado TO, Beckers SJ, Fischer J, Müller B, Sayer C, de Araújo PH, Landfester K, Wurm FR (2020) Bio-Based Lignin Nanocarriers Loaded with Fungicides as a Versatile Platform for Drug Delivery in Plants. Biomacromolecules 21(7):2755–2763
- Mahakham W, Sarmah AK, Maensiri S, Theerakulpisut P (2017) Nanopriming technology for enhancing germination and starch metabolism of aged rice seeds using phytosynthesized silver nanoparticles. Sci Rep 7(1):1–21
- Mahmoud LM, Dutt M, Shalan AM, El-Kady ME, El-Boray MS, Shabana YM, Grosser JW (2020) Silicon nanoparticles mitigate oxidative stress of in vitro-derived banana (Musa acuminata 'Grand Nain') under simulated water deficit or salinity stress. S Afr J Bot 132:155–163
- Malik M, Padhye P, Poddar P (2019) Downconversion luminescence-based nanosensor for labelfree detection of explosives. ACS Omega 4(2):4259–4268
- Martínez-Ballesta MC, Zapata L, Chalbi N, Carvajal M (2016) Multiwalled carbon nanotubes enter broccoli cells enhancing growth and water uptake of plants exposed to salinity. J Nanobiotechnol 14(1):1–14
- Maswada H, Djanaguiraman M, Prasad P (2018) Seed treatment with nano-iron (III) oxide enhances germination, seeding growth and salinity tolerance of sorghum. J Agron Crop Sci 204(6):577–587
- McGehee DL, Alimohammadi M, Khodakovskaya MV (2019) Carbon-based nanomaterials as stimulators of production of pharmaceutically active alkaloids in cell culture of Catharanthus roseus. Nanotechnology 30(27):275102
- Mikula K, Izydorczyk G, Skrzypczak D, Mironiuk M, Moustakas K, Witek-Krowiak A, Chojnacka K (2020) Controlled release micronutrient fertilizers for precision agriculture–A review. Sci Total Environ 712:136365
- Mishra S, Singh BR, Singh A, Keswani C, Naqvi AH, Singh H (2014) Biofabricated silver nanoparticles act as a strong fungicide against Bipolaris sorokiniana causing spot blotch disease in wheat. PLoS One 9(5):e97881
- Mitter N, Worrall EA, Robinson KE, Li P, Jain RG, Taochy C, Fletcher SJ, Carroll BJ, Lu GM, Xu ZP (2017) Clay nanosheets for topical delivery of RNAi for sustained protection against plant viruses. Nat Plants 3(2):1–10
- Mittler R (2017) ROS are good. Trends Plant Sci 22(1):11-19
- Mohamed AKS, Qayyum MF, Abdel-Hadi AM, Rehman RA, Ali S, Rizwan M (2017) Interactive effect of salinity and silver nanoparticles on photosynthetic and biochemical parameters of wheat. Arch Agron Soil Sci 63(12):1736–1747
- Mohammadi R, Maali-Amiri R, Abbasi A (2013) Effect of TiO 2 nanoparticles on chickpea response to cold stress. Biol Trace Elem Res 152(3):403–410
- Mohanta D, Patnaik S, Sood S, Das N (2019) Carbon nanotubes: Evaluation of toxicity at biointerfaces. J Pharm Anal 9(5):293–300
- Moradbeygi H, Jamei R, Heidari R, Darvishzadeh R (2020) Investigating the enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant defense by applying iron oxide nanoparticles in Dracocephalum moldavica L. plant under salinity stress. Sci Hortic 272:109537
- Mustafa G, Komatsu S (2016) Insights into the response of soybean mitochondrial proteins to various sizes of aluminum oxide nanoparticles under flooding stress. J Proteome Res 15(12):4464–4475
- Narayana A, Bhat SA, Fathima A, Lokesh S, Surya SG, Yelamaggad C (2020) Green and low-cost synthesis of zinc oxide nanoparticles and their application in transistor-based carbon monoxide sensing. RSC Adv 10(23):13532–13542

- Nietzel T, Elsässer M, Ruberti C, Steinbeck J, Ugalde JM, Fuchs P, Wagner S, Ostermann L, Moseler A, Lemke P (2019) The fluorescent protein sensor ro GFP 2-Orp1 monitors in vivo H2O2 and thiol redox integration and elucidates intracellular H2O2 dynamics during elicitorinduced oxidative burst in Arabidopsis. New Phytol 221(3):1649–1664
- Oren S, Ceylan H, Schnable PS, Dong L (2017) High-resolution patterning and transferring of graphene-based nanomaterials onto tape toward roll-to-roll production of tape-based wearable sensors. Adv Mater Technol 2(12):1700223
- Palmqvist NM, Seisenbaeva GA, Svedlindh P, Kessler VG (2017) Maghemite nanoparticles acts as nanozymes, improving growth and abiotic stress tolerance in Brassica napus. Nanoscale Res Lett 12(1):1–9
- Pandey K, Anas M, Hicks VK, Green MJ, Khodakovskaya MV (2019) Improvement of Commercially Valuable Traits of Industrial Crops by Application of Carbon-based Nanomaterials. Sci Rep 9(1):19358. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-55903-3
- Paret ML, Vallad GE, Averett DR, Jones JB, Olson SM (2013) Photocatalysis: effect of lightactivated nanoscale formulations of TiO2 on Xanthomonas perforans and control of bacterial spot of tomato. Phytopathology 103(3):228–236
- Pausch P, Al-Shayeb B, Bisom-Rapp E, Tsuchida CA, Li Z, Cress BF, Knott GJ, Jacobsen SE, Banfield JF, Doudna JA (2020) CRISPR-CasΦ from huge phages is a hypercompact genome editor. Science 369(6501):333–337
- Pirmohamed T, Dowding JM, Singh S, Wasserman B, Heckert E, Karakoti AS, King JE, Seal S, Self WT (2010) Nanoceria exhibit redox state-dependent catalase mimetic activity. Chem Commun 46(16):2736–2738
- Popp J, Pető K, Nagy J (2013) Pesticide productivity and food security. A review. Agron Sustain Dev 33(1):243–255
- Pradhan S, Patra P, Das S, Chandra S, Mitra S, Dey KK, Akbar S, Palit P, Goswami A (2013) Photochemical modulation of biosafe manganese nanoparticles on Vigna radiata: a detailed molecular, biochemical, and biophysical study. Environ Sci Technol 47(22):13122–13131
- Rizwan M, Ali S, Ali B, Adrees M, Arshad M, Hussain A, ur Rehman MZ, Waris AA (2019) Zinc and iron oxide nanoparticles improved the plant growth and reduced the oxidative stress and cadmium concentration in wheat. Chemosphere 214:269–277
- Robatjazi H, Bahauddin SM, Doiron C, Thomann I (2015) Direct plasmon-driven photoelectrocatalysis. Nano Lett 15(9):6155–6161
- Rong G, Tuttle EE, Neal Reilly A, Clark HA (2019) Recent developments in nanosensors for imaging applications in biological systems. Annu Rev Anal Chem 12:109–128
- Rossi L, Zhang W, Lombardini L, Ma X (2016) The impact of cerium oxide nanoparticles on the salt stress responses of Brassica napus L. Environ Pollut 219:28–36
- Saharan V, Sharma G, Yadav M, Choudhary MK, Sharma S, Pal A, Raliya R, Biswas P (2015) Synthesis and in vitro antifungal efficacy of Cu–chitosan nanoparticles against pathogenic fungi of tomato. Int J Biol Macromol 75:346–353
- Santana I, Wu H, Hu P, Giraldo JP (2020) Targeted delivery of nanomaterials with chemical cargoes in plants enabled by a biorecognition motif. Nat Commun 11(1):1–12
- Sedghi M, Hadi M, Toluie SG (2013) Effect of nano zinc oxide on the germination parameters of soybean seeds under drought stress. Ann West Univ Timisoara Ser Biol 16(2):73
- Servin A, Elmer W, Mukherjee A, De la Torre-Roche R, Hamdi H, White JC, Bindraban P, Dimkpa C (2015) A review of the use of engineered nanomaterials to suppress plant disease and enhance crop yield. J Nanopart Res 17(2):1–21
- Setsukinai K-i, Urano Y, Kakinuma K, Majima HJ, Nagano T (2003) Development of Novel Fluorescence Probes That Can Reliably Detect Reactive Oxygen Species and Distinguish Specific Species* 210. J Biol Chem 278(5):3170–3175
- Shabala S, Wu H, Bose J (2015) Salt stress sensing and early signalling events in plant roots: Current knowledge and hypothesis. Plant Sci 241:109–119
- Sharifi S, Behzadi S, Laurent S, Forrest ML, Stroeve P, Mahmoudi M (2012) Toxicity of nanomaterials. Chem Soc Rev 41(6):2323–2343

- Spicer CD, Jumeaux C, Gupta B, Stevens MM (2018) Peptide and protein nanoparticle conjugates: versatile platforms for biomedical applications. Chem Soc Rev 47(10):3574–3620
- Spielman-Sun E, Avellan A, Bland GD, Tappero RV, Acerbo AS, Unrine JM, Giraldo JP, Lowry GV (2019) Nanoparticle surface charge influences translocation and leaf distribution in vascular plants with contrasting anatomy. Environ Sci Nano 6(8):2508–2519
- Srivastava D, Shamim M, Kumar M, Mishra A, Pandey P, Kumar D, Yadav P, Siddiqui MH, Singh KN (2017) Current status of conventional and molecular interventions for blast resistance in rice. Rice Sci 24(6):299–321
- Stapleton AE (1992) Ultraviolet radiation and plants: burning questions. Plant Cell 4(11):1353
- Steinfeld B, Scott J, Vilander G, Marx L, Quirk M, Lindberg J, Koerner K (2015) The role of lean process improvement in implementation of evidence-based practices in behavioral health care. J Behav Health Services Res 42(4):504–518
- Su L-X, Ma X-L, Zhao K-K, Shen C-L, Lou Q, Yin D-M, Shan C-X (2018) Carbon nanodots for enhancing the stress resistance of peanut plants. Acs Omega 3(12):17770–17777
- Sun L, Song F, Guo J, Zhu X, Liu S, Liu F, Li X (2020) Nano-ZnO-induced drought tolerance is associated with melatonin synthesis and metabolism in maize. Int J Mol Sci 21(3):782
- Sun L, Song F, Zhu X, Liu S, Liu F, Wang Y, Li X (2021) Nano-ZnO alleviates drought stress via modulating the plant water use and carbohydrate metabolism in maize. Arch Agron Soil Sci 67(2):245–259
- Sundaria N, Singh M, Upreti P, Chauhan RP, Jaiswal J, Kumar A (2019) Seed priming with Iron oxide nanoparticles triggers Iron acquisition and biofortification in wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) grains. J Plant Growth Regul 38(1):122–131
- Suzuki N, Rivero RM, Shulaev V, Blumwald E, Mittler R (2014) Abiotic and biotic stress combinations. New Phytol 203(1):32–43
- Tan L, Chi-Lung Y (1970) Abundance of chemical elements in the earth's crust and its major tectonic units. Int Geol Rev 12(7):778–786
- Tan W, Du W, Barrios AC, Armendariz R Jr, Zuverza-Mena N, Ji Z, Chang CH, Zink JI, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Peralta-Videa JR (2017) Surface coating changes the physiological and biochemical impacts of nano-TiO2 in basil (Ocimum basilicum) plants. Environ Pollut 222:64–72
- Taran N, Storozhenko V, Svietlova N, Batsmanova L, Shvartau V, Kovalenko M (2017) Effect of zinc and copper nanoparticles on drought resistance of wheat seedlings. Nanoscale Res Lett 12(1):1–6
- Thagun C, Chuah JA, Numata K (2019) Targeted gene delivery into various plastids mediated by clustered cell-penetrating and chloroplast-targeting peptides. Adv Sci 6(23):1902064
- Torabian S, Zahedi M, Khoshgoftar AH (2017) Effects of foliar spray of nano-particles of FeSO4 on the growth and ion content of sunflower under saline condition. J Plant Nutr 40(5):615–623
- Toyota M, Spencer D, Sawai-Toyota S, Jiaqi W, Zhang T, Koo AJ, Howe GA, Gilroy S (2018) Glutamate triggers long-distance, calcium-based plant defense signaling. Science 361(6407):1112–1115
- Van Ittersum MK, Van Bussel LG, Wolf J, Grassini P, Van Wart J, Guilpart N, Claessens L, de Groot H, Wiebe K, Mason-D'Croz D (2016) Can sub-Saharan Africa feed itself? Proc Natl Acad Sci 113(52):14964–14969
- Van Nguyen D, Nguyen HM, Le NT, Nguyen KH, Nguyen HT, Le HM, Nguyen AT, Dinh NTT, Hoang SA, Van Ha C (2021) Copper nanoparticle application enhances plant growth and grain yield in maize under drought stress conditions. J Plant Growth Regul:1–12
- Walkey C, Das S, Seal S, Erlichman J, Heckman K, Ghibelli L, Traversa E, McGinnis JF, Self WT (2015) Catalytic properties and biomedical applications of cerium oxide nanoparticles. Environ Sci Nano 2(1):33–53
- Wang X, Liu X, Chen J, Han H, Yuan Z (2014) Evaluation and mechanism of antifungal effects of carbon nanomaterials in controlling plant fungal pathogen. Carbon 68:798–806
- Wang P, Lombi E, Zhao F-J, Kopittke PM (2016) Nanotechnology: a new opportunity in plant sciences. Trends Plant Sci 21(8):699–712
- Wei T, Cheng Q, Min Y-L, Olson EN, Siegwart DJ (2020) Systemic nanoparticle delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoproteins for effective tissue specific genome editing. Nat Commun 11(1):1–12

- Wiesholler LM, Frenzel F, Grauel B, Würth C, Resch-Genger U, Hirsch T (2019) Yb, Nd, Er-doped upconversion nanoparticles: 980 nm versus 808 nm excitation. Nanoscale 11(28):13440–13449
- Wong MH, Misra RP, Giraldo JP, Kwak S-Y, Son Y, Landry MP, Swan JW, Blankschtein D, Strano MS (2016) Lipid exchange envelope penetration (LEEP) of nanoparticles for plant engineering: A universal localization mechanism. Nano Lett 16(2):1161–1172
- Wu H (2018) Plant salt tolerance and Na+ sensing and transport. Crop J 6(3):215-225
- Wu H, Santana I, Dansie J, Giraldo JP (2017a) In vivo delivery of nanoparticles into plant leaves. Curr Protocol Chem Biol 9(4):269–284
- Wu H, Tito N, Giraldo JP (2017b) Anionic cerium oxide nanoparticles protect plant photosynthesis from abiotic stress by scavenging reactive oxygen species. ACS Nano 11(11):11283–11297
- Wu H, Shabala L, Shabala S, Giraldo JP (2018) Hydroxyl radical scavenging by cerium oxide nanoparticles improves Arabidopsis salinity tolerance by enhancing leaf mesophyll potassium retention. Environ Sci Nano 5(7):1567–1583
- Wu H, Nißler R, Morris V, Herrmann N, Hu P, Jeon S-J, Kruss S, Giraldo JP (2020) Monitoring plant health with near-infrared fluorescent H2O2 Nanosensors. Nano Lett 20(4):2432–2442
- Xin X, Judy JD, Sumerlin BB, He Z (2020) Nano-enabled agriculture: from nanoparticles to smart nanodelivery systems. Environ Chem 17(6):413–425
- Yao J, Cheng Y, Zhou M, Zhao S, Lin S, Wang X, Wu J, Li S, Wei H (2018) ROS scavenging Mn 3 O 4 nanozymes for in vivo anti-inflammation. Chem Sci 9(11):2927–2933
- Ye Y, Cota-Ruiz K, Hernández-Viezcas JA, Valdés C, Medina-Velo IA, Turley RS, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2020) Manganese nanoparticles control salinity-modulated molecular responses in Capsicum annuum L. through priming: A sustainable approach for agriculture. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 8(3):1427–1436
- Younis M, Abdel-Aziz H, Heikal Y (2019) Nanopriming technology enhances vigor and mitotic index of aged Vicia faba seeds using chemically synthesized silver nanoparticles. S Afr J Bot 125:393–401
- Yu Q, Lutz KA, Maliga P (2017) Efficient plastid transformation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 175(1):186–193
- Yusefi-Tanha E, Fallah S, Rostamnejadi A, Pokhrel LR (2020) Particle size and concentration dependent toxicity of copper oxide nanoparticles (CuONPs) on seed yield and antioxidant defense system in soil grown soybean (Glycine max cv. Kowsar). Sci Total Environ 715:136994
- Zhang H, Demirer GS, Zhang H, Ye T, Goh NS, Aditham AJ, Cunningham FJ, Fan C, Landry MP (2019) DNA nanostructures coordinate gene silencing in mature plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci 116(15):7543–7548
- Zhang P, Guo Z, Zhang Z, Fu H, White JC, Lynch I (2020a) Nanomaterial transformation in the soil–plant system: implications for food safety and application in agriculture. Small 16(21):2000705
- Zhang Y, Yan J, Avellan A, Gao X, Matyjaszewski K, Tilton RD, Lowry GV (2020b) Temperatureand pH-responsive star polymers as nanocarriers with potential for in vivo agrochemical delivery. ACS Nano 14(9):10954–10965
- Zhao G, Zhao Y, Lou W, Su J, Wei S, Yang X, Wang R, Guan R, Pu H, Shen W (2019) Nitrate reductase-dependent nitric oxide is crucial for multi-walled carbon nanotube-induced plant tolerance against salinity. Nanoscale 11(21):10511–10523
- Zhao L, Lu L, Wang A, Zhang H, Huang M, Wu H, Xing B, Wang Z, Ji R (2020) Nano-biotechnology in agriculture: use of nanomaterials to promote plant growth and stress tolerance. J Agric Food Chem 68(7):1935–1947
- Zhu Z-J, Wang H, Yan B, Zheng H, Jiang Y, Miranda OR, Rotello VM, Xing B, Vachet RW (2012) Effect of surface charge on the uptake and distribution of gold nanoparticles in four plant species. Environ Sci Technol 46(22):12391–12398
- Zhu Q, Wang L, Dong Q, Chang S, Wen K, Jia S, Chu Z, Wang H, Gao P, Zhao H (2017) FRETbased glucose imaging identifies glucose signalling in response to biotic and abiotic stresses in rice roots. J Plant Physiol 215:65–72